

International Journal of Recent Advances in Multidisciplinary Research



Vol. 12, Issue 01, pp. 10728-10731, January, 2025

CASE REPORT



ECTOPIA CORDIS WITH FETAL HYDROPS AND SEVERE OLIGOHYDRAMNIOS: A CASE REPORT

Pius Omullo (MBChB), Magdalene Parsimei (MBChB), Thomas Kitheghe (MBChB) and Zamzam Hassan (MBChB)

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Murang'a County Referral Hospital, P.O. Box 69-10200, Kenya

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Article History Received 19 th October, 2024 Received in revised form 17 th November, 2024 Accepted 26 th December, 2024 Published online 30 th January, 2025	Ectopia cordis is a rare congenital anomaly where the heart is partially or completely extruded from the thorax. It can occur with other associated defects, especially as part of the Pentalogy of Cantrell (a collection of 5 congenital midline birth anomalies; involving the sternum, heart, pericardium, diaphragm, and abdominal wall). Mostly, the prognosis for infants with ectopia cordis is poordue to the complexity of management, inadequate expertise, and delayed diagnoses.We examine a rare presentation of ectopia cordis in a 34-year-old woman at 36 weeks gestation, complicated by fetal hydrops and severe oligohydramnios. Taking into account the poor prognosis, conservative management was chosen. The patient went into labor at 38 weeks and 4 days, and the outcome was a live male infant who passed away 5 minutes after delivery. We explore the clinical intricacy and significance of timely antenatal screening and multidisciplinary management in high-risk pregnancies.
Keywords:	
Ectopia Cordis, Fetal Hydrops, Pentalogy of Cantrell, Oligohydramnios.	
*Corresponding author: Pius Omullo	

Copyright©2025, *Pius Omullo et al.* This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Citation: Pius Omullo (MBChB), Magdalene Parsimei (MBChB et al. 2025. "The role of Digital Content Marketing in consumer response: based on social impact theory in Iranian and Afghanistan Instagram User", *International Journal of Recent Advances in Multidisciplinary Research,* 12, (01), 10728-10731.

INTRODUCTION

The term "ectopia" is derived from the Greek word "ektopos," meaning "out of place" (1). Ectopia cordis (EC) is a rare congenital anomaly where the heart is either partially or completely extruded outside the thoracic cavity (1-4). Its prevalence is approximately 5.5-7.9% per million live births (2). EC is often associated with abnormalities such as omphalocele, congenital heart defects, and skeletal deformities (5). The prognosis is usually unfavorable, with most cases culminating in stillbirth or early neonatal death (6). This case calls attention to a rare presentation of and ectopia cordis with fetal hydrops severe oligohydramnios, prompting an exploration into antenatal diagnosis, management strategies, and outcomes.

CASE PRESENTATION

A 34-year-old woman, gravida 4, para 2+1 at 36 weeks and 2 days gestation, was referred from a peripheral facility due to concerning ultrasound findings. At 20 weeks gestation, she attended that peripheral facility for a routine anomaly scan; however, she received the sonographic findings report later at 36 weeks during one of her routine ANC visits. She had 3 ANC visits, the first at 16 weeks gestation, the second at 20 weeks, and the last at 36 weeks. This delay was occasioned by poor ANC attendance and failure for an

active follow-up or referral to a maternofetal specialist. The ultrasound report revealed a single viable fetus in cephalic presentation with ectopia cordis, fetal hydrops, and severe oligohydramnios. An antenatal ultrasound scan of the anomaly is shown in Figure 1. Her antenatal history was unremarkable, with no history of illicit drug use, smoking, use of unprescribed medications, or chronic health conditions. However, the patient reported a history of miscarriage at 8 weeks of gestation in her preceding pregnancy.

She denied any family history of congenital or genetic abnormalities, and there was no consanguinity in the family. Given the poor prognosis and limited intervention options in advanced gestation, conservative management was planned. At 38 weeks and 4 days gestation, the patient was admitted to our facility in labor and later delivered a live male infant with an Apgar score of 2 at 1 minute and 0 at 5 minutes. The infant expired at the 4th minute despite aggressive neonatal resuscitation. The infant weighed 1,700 grams and was 43 cm in length. On examination, he was unresponsive and displayed multiple congenital anomalies, including partial thoracoabdominal ectopia cordis, a large abdominal wall defect with omphalocele, and gross lower limb deformities, as demonstrated in Figures 2,3 and 4. The parents received debriefing and counselling before and after the delivery. Moreover, the couple was advised on the

significance of postpartum genetic testing in identifying potential genetic or syndromic causes, such as the Pentalogy of Cantrell or associated chromosomal abnormalities like trisomy 18.



Figure 1. The ultrasound 2D image (a) at 16 weeks of gestation showing the fetal bowels lying outside the abdomen



Figure 2. The photograph of the neonate demonstrates a thoracoabdominal wall defect



Figure 3. The photograph of the neonate demonstrates partial thoracoabdominal ectopia cordis, extruded bowels, and fetal hydrops



Figure 4. The photograph (lateral view) of the neonate demonstrates gross lower limb defects; abdominal organs such as the liver can be appreciated.

DISCUSSION

EC is a rare congenital anomaly reported thousands of years ago. EC describes a condition in which the heart is either partially or completely extruded outside the thoracic cavity (1,3,6). Its etiology has not been fully explained. Failure of lateral mesoderm during the third week of gestation and midline fusion of the developing chest wall due to rupture of the yolk sac has been implicated (7). Despite being a sporadic malformation, EC has been associated with chromosomal abnormalities such as Turner syndrome and trisomy 18 (2).

The clinical management of ectopia cordis begins with a prenatal ultrasonographic diagnosis fetal or echocardiography between 16 and 20 weeks (8). However, in this case, the 20-week scan findings were delayed until 36 weeks due to poor ANC clinic attendance by the patient and failure of an active follow-up, affecting clinical decisions regarding prognosis and treatment. Timely prenatal diagnosis facilitates multidisciplinary planning, parental counselling, surgical intervention evaluation, and perinatal palliative care in scenarios where intervention remains unfeasible (8). Importantly, advanced cases with complications such as fetal hydrops have poor prognosis due to severe physiological compromise, as was evident in this case (10).

Conservative management allowed for prioritizing maternal well-being and minimizing neonatal suffering (11). The patient was counselled on the severity of fetal anomalies, outcomes, and management options, ensuring informed decision-making. Surgical management was unlikely to succeed given the severity of ectopia cordis, fetal hydrops, and associated anomalies, with high risks and uncertain outcomes (12). Additionally, the lack of fetal specialist input due to delayed diagnosis and resource limitations at the peripheral facility limited a more comprehensive assessment of prognosis and surgical feasibility (13). Early referral to a multidisciplinary team could have facilitated detailed imaging, prognostic counselling, and broader consideration of management options (14). Ectopia cordis's co-occurrence with other abnormalities increases the complexity of care for such cases (5). Approximately 90% of ectopia cordis cases are associated with other anomalies (1,2,5). The prognosis of EC is worsened by its cooccurrence with other anomalies that constitute the Pentalogy of Cantrell. Moreover. the severe oligohydramnios and fetal hydrops increased the complexity of the management of this case. Severe oligohydramnios restricts fetal lung maturation, increasing morbidity (15,16). Inadequate ANC attendance is attributed to poor health outcomes post-delivery for both mothers and neonates (17). This case highlights the significance of adequate ANC attendance, timely diagnosis, and active maternal follow-up in ensuring pregnancy outcomes (18). Prompt identification of such congenital anomalies permits a thorough discussion with parents about options for termination or postnatal care (19,20). Moreover, conservative management prioritizes maternal well-being in poor prognosis, while operative delivery offers limited and higher Additionally, maternal risk. success psychosocial support for the family is critical in resourcelimited settings often where the prognosis remains unfavorable (21).

CONCLUSION

This case explores a rare occurrence of ectopia cordis with gross congenital abnormalities complicated by delayed diagnosis, severe oligohydramnios, and fetal hydrops. It uncovers the clinical challenges and complexity of decision-making and emphasizes the significance of early anomaly scanning, accessible maternal-fetal health resources, and a multidisciplinary team. Despite the unfavorable outcome, similar cases show how healthcare systems can optimize prenatal care pathways.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank the child's mother for permission to share her child's medical history for educational purposes and publication.

Ethical Considerations: The patient's parent gave written informed consent to publish medical details and images.

Author Contributions: Omullo Pius - Lead and corresponding author, compilation, and final review; Magdalene Parsimei W. - Approval seeking and review; Thomas Kimanzi Kitheghe - Manuscript writing & Zamzam M. Hassan - compilation and review.

Source of Funding: No funding was required for the report.

Competing Interests: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

REFERENCES

- 1. Agrawal SN, Joshi VK, Sanapale S, Tiwari PC. Ectopia cordis: a case report and review of literature. International Surgery Journal. 2018 Jan 25;5(2):739.
- Mohamed SM, Isa HM, Sandhu AK. Ectopia Cordis as a Lethal Neonatal Condition: A Case Report from Bahrain and a Literature Review. Krzelj V, editor. Case Reports in Pediatrics. 2022 Aug 22;2022:1–5.
- Taksande AM, Vilhekar KY. A case report of ectopia cordis and omphalocele. Indian Journal of Human Genetics (Internet). 2013 (cited 2020 Oct 29);19(4):491–3. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pmc/ articles/ PMC3897151/
- 4. Gabriel A, Donnelly J, Kuc A, Good D, Doros G, Matusz P, et al. Ectopia cordis: A rare congenital anomaly. Clinical Anatomy. 2014 Apr 19;27(8):1193–9.
- 5. Ţarcă E, Dina Al Namat, Alina Costina Luca, Vasile Valeriu Lupu, Razan Al Namat, Lupu A, et al. Omphalocele and Cardiac Abnormalities—The Importance of the Association. 2023 Apr 14;13(8):1413–3. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pmc/articles/ PMC1 0137326/#:~:text=Septal
- Smith BJ, Flyer JN, Edwards EM, Soll RF, Horbar JD, Yeager SB. Outcomes for Ectopia Cordis. The Journal of Pediatrics (Internet). 2020 Jan; 216:67–72. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0022347619311503
- Ramasauskaite D, Snieckuviene V, Zitkute V, Vankeviciene R, Lauzikiene D, Drasutiene G. A Rare Case Report of Thoracic Ectopia Cordis: An Obstetrician's Point of View in Multidisciplinary Approach. Case Reports in Pediatrics (Internet). 2016 (cited 2020 Jan 28);2016:1–3. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pmc/ articles/ PMC5120199/
- Edward Araujo Júnior, Luiza Graça Coutinho, Nathalie Jeanne Bravo-Valenzuela, de A, Luciane Alves Rocha, Rizzo G, et al. Ectopia cordis: prenatal diagnosis, perinatal outcomes, and postnatal follow-up of an international multicenter cohort case series. Journal of Maternal-fetal& Neonatal Medicine. 2023 Apr 20;36(1).
- 9. Smith BJ, Flyer JN, Edwards EM, Soll RF, Horbar JD, Yeager SB. ECTOPIA CORDIS: SURVIVAL AND OUTCOMES OF A NEONATAL MULTICENTER COHORT. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2019 Mar;73(9):602.
- Yeom W, Paik ES, An JJ, Oh S, Choi SJ, Roh CR, et al. Clinical characteristics and perinatal outcome of fetal hydrops. Obstetrics &Gynecology Science. 2015;58(2):90.
- 11. Kelle A, Qureshi M, Dearani J, Moir C, Rose CH, Matsumoto JM, et al. DELIVERY AND MANAGEMENT OF COMPLETE ECTOPIA CORDIS: A MULTIDISCIPLINARY APPROACH. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2017 Mar;69(11):2211.
- 12. Yıldız K. Four ectopia cordis cases surgically managed with different strategies. The Turkish Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery (Internet). 2021 Jan 28 (cited 2023 May 8);29(1):114–8. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7970079/

- 13. Yadav M, Gowda M, Chinta N, Deodhare K, Murugesan S. Factors associated with late gestational age of diagnosis and/or delayed referral of fetuses with major structural malformations: A study in a tertiary care hospital in South India. Prenatal Diagnosis. 2023 Aug 30;43(11):1406–15.
- 14. Lodhia J, Chipongo H, Chilonga K, Mchaile D, Mbwasi R, Philemon R. Ectopia cordis: A case report of pre-surgical care in resource-limited setting. International Journal of Surgery Case Reports (Internet). 2021 Jun 1; 83:105965. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/ article/ pii/S2210261221004673
- 15. Pius S, Abubakar Ibrahim H, Bello M, Bashir Tahir M. Complete Ectopia Cordis: A Case Report and Literature Review. Case Reports in Pediatrics (Internet). 2017; 2017:1–6. Available from: https://www.hindawi.com/ journals/ cripe/2017/1858621/
- 16. Khatun T, Ansari AA, Hamid I, Gupta RS, Ahmad MdP. Oligohydramnios and Fetal Outcome: A Review. Med Phoenix. 2017 Jul 31;1(1):23–30.
- 17. AsayeAlamneh Gebeyehu, Anteneh Mengist Dessie, Melkamu AderajewZemene, Rahel Mulatie Anteneh, Ermias Sisay Chanie, Kebede N, et al. Inadequacy of antenatal care attendance and its determinants amongst pregnant women in Ethiopia based on the 2019 Mini-Ethiopian demographic health survey: secondary data analysis. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth. 2024 Oct 18;24(1).

- 18. Mwenebanda E, Machado A, Patel AI, Alinane Linda Nyondo-Mipando, Chiumia IK. Factors influencing antenatal care attendance in the eight-contact era policy: a case of selected maternal health service facilities in Blantyre, Malawi. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth. 2024 Oct 26;24(1).
- Paweł Sadłecki, Małgorzata Walentowicz-Sadłecka. Prenatal diagnosis of fetal defects and its implications on the delivery mode. Open Medicine (Internet). 2023 Jan 1 (cited 2023 Dec 8);18(1). Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC10183726/
- 20. João Paulo Souza, Day L, Ana Clara Rezende-Gomes, Zhang J, Mori R, Adama Baguiya, et al. A global analysis of the determinants of maternal health and transitions in maternal mortality. The Lancet Global Health. 2023 Dec 1;12(2).
- 21. Tanninen HM, Häggman-Laitila A, Pietilä AM. Resourceenhancing psychosocial support in family situations: needs and benefits from family members' own perspectives. Journal of Advanced Nursing. 2009 Oct;65(10):2150–60.
